STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 24 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BEULAH BUTLER,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-194608

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by essentially ignoring petitioner's argument that it was error for the trial judge to deny petitioner's motion for a directed verdict as a matter of law on self-defense where the trial judge ruled he would not apply the standard that the state had to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt on directed verdict motions, since that was the proper standard, and the evidence was undisputed that petitioner was being attacked by her angry decedent boyfriend in her own home at the time he was stabbed, and petitioner was entitled to a directed verdict as a matter of law on self-defense under the proper standard under these circumstances?

2.

The Court of Appeals erred, even if it ruled the judge applied the right standard, by holding it was not error for the judge to deny petitioner's motion for a directed verdict as a matter of law on self-defense where the evidence was undisputed that petitioner was being attacked by her angry decedent boyfriend in her own home at the time he was stabbed, and petitioner was entitled to a direct verdict of self-defense as a matter of law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history

Petitioner was indicted by the Lexington County grand jury for the offenses of voluntary manslaughter, and possession of a firearm or a knife during the commission of a violent crime. ROA 814. The decedent was her boyfriend, and two experts testified petitioner was a battered woman and suffered from post-trauma stress disorder. Her case was called to trial on February 25, 2008 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. Arie D. Bax and Sarah A. Hahn represented petitioner. David Shawn Graham and Debra B. Moore were the Assistant Solicitors. ROA 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on March 3, 2008 the jury found petitioner guilty on both counts. ROA 812, ll. 15 – 21. Judge McMahon sentenced petitioner to nine years imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter and he imposed a concurrent five year term for possession of a knife during the commission of a violent crime. Judge McMahon also found by preponderance of the evidence that there was credible evidence that petitioner suffered from a history of criminal domestic violence under that parole statute. Supp. ROA. 1, l. 14 – 813, l. 4.

The Court of Appeals affirmed on direct appeal. See, State v. Beulah R. Butler, 2011-UP-127 (filed March 28, 2011). App. 1-3. Petitioner filed for rehearing. App. 4-8. Rehearing was denied. App. 10.

Petitioner then filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court, and the state filed a return. This Court granted certiorari in its order dated February 22, 2013. This brief of petitioner follows.

Relevant Facts

Beulah Butler was diagnosed by Dr. Lois Veronen and Dr. Catherine Ross of Sistercare as being a battered woman who also suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder. ROA 640–646;

ROA 674–682. The decedent’s mother, Doris Robinson, testified that petitioner talked to her on the telephone early in the morning on July 23, 2006 from petitioner’s house. She said the decedent, whom petitioner dated, was very upset, and that she told Ms. Robinson to come over to her house. ROA 10, l. 13 – 18, l. 19.

Ms. Robinson admitted the decedent had problems with other women. She was aware of the fact that petitioner stated her son had hit her in the past. Ms. Robinson acknowledged she was aware that the decedent had been arrested for that abuse of petitioner. ROA 18, l. 12 – 19, l. 3. However, she also claimed she heard petitioner in the background taking the decedent to task for telephoning his mother on the morning of the fatal attack. ROA 10, l. 13 – 18, l. 19.

Annette Haltiwanger was petitioner’s neighbor. She remembered that at about two a.m. on July 23, 2006 she heard some loud noises. ROA 22, l. 12 – 23, l. 21. Haltiwanger immediately grabbed her phone “because I live alone.” ROA 23, ll. 15 – 22. Haltiwanger opened her door and saw petitioner’s shadow in the house next door. She heard noise coming from petitioner’s house, and she heard petitioner asking “Why?” to someone. ROA 24, ll. 1 – 20. Haltiwanger telephoned 911 and she saw the decedent lying on the floor. ROA 27, ll. 1 – 10.

Robert Sharpe was a reserve West Columbia police officer. He was dispatched to petitioner’s house on the morning of July 23, 2006. ROA 38, l. 18 – 52, l. 23. Sharpe remembered the decedent was in “pretty grave condition” when he arrived. He had been stabbed, and it was undisputed petitioner was on floor trying to help or comfort the decedent when the police arrived. ROA 43, ll. 16 – 23. Sharpe said petitioner told him the decedent “rolled over on a knife.” ROA 48, ll. 3 – 4.

Police officer John Reese testified that he learned the decedent got mad at petitioner because “a male called me on the phone” while they were out at a club. ROA 56, l. 9 – 57, l. 2. Reese

acknowledged petitioner's house was in total disarray with objects overturned, and that it was consistent with a major struggle having occurred there. ROA 69, l. 13 – 73, l. 11.

Investigator Charles Bramlett, Jr., testified he read petitioner her rights that morning when he arrived. ROA 75, l. 17 – 79, l. 5. Bramlett recalled petitioner telling him that while she was at Group Therapy, a club in Five Points in Columbia with the decedent. She received a phone call from another man. Bramlett remembered petitioner told him, once they arrived back at her house, that the decedent had choked her until she passed out. Bramlett said petitioner also told him that when she awoke the decedent began hitting her in the head with her VCR. ROA 79, l. 6 – 80, l. 9.

Bramlett acknowledged seeing marks on petitioner upper body, and cuts to her legs that morning. ROA 85, l. 20 – 86, l. 6. There were also photographs showing bruises taken three days later.

Colleen Belk, a West Columbia police officer, accompanied petitioner to the bathroom at the police station that morning. She testified petitioner was praying inside the bathroom “for the Lord’s help.” Belk maintained she told petitioner she also “may want to pray for Mr. Russell also, that he was in surgery at Palmetto Richland.” Belk said petitioner responded that this was “was a whole lot of nothing, a mess about nothing . . .” ROA 130, ll. 2 – 13. This “whole lot of mess about nothing” alleged statement would be the solicitor’s theme in his closing when he argued petitioner was not acting in self-defense. The solicitor added that if the jury did not think petitioner was guilty they should “give her this knife and send her home.” ROA 130, ll. 2 – 13; ROA 778, 8 – 779, l. 10.

The decedent’s blood alcohol reading at the time he was stabbed showed he had consumed seven or more drinks in a short period of time. It was estimated his blood alcohol reading at the time he attacked petitioner was .17. ROA 367, l. 12 – 369, l. 15.

Directed verdict motion

Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict arguing “none of the state’s evidence has refuted any of these elements of self-defense.” He noted the “the state bears the burden of disproving self-defense. He reminded the judge that the state introduced petitioner’s statements regarding what occurred. ROA 412, l. 13 – 416, l. 17.

Counsel argued petitioner was without fault in bringing on the difficulty because the decedent physically attacked her because she received a phone call from another man. The evidence showed petitioner was choked and photographs corroborated her injuries. The evidence also showed that the house had been “trashed” as petitioner fought to protect herself. Counsel argued the state’s evidence itself established self-defense as matter of law. ROA 665, l. 13 – 678, l. 5. Defense counsel cited State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978) in support of his motion. ROA 416, ll. 7 – 14.

The solicitor argued the state had disapproved the elements of self-defense and he claimed irrelevantly that the decedent did not have a duty to retreat because he also lived at the house. As will be seen infra, petitioner testified the decedent never lived at her house, and that he only visited. ROA 417, l. 6 – 420, l. 21.

Defense counsel argued the state had the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt and even the state’s evidence established self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. ROA 421, l. 14 – 422, l. 17. The judge denied the motion ruling *he was not applying the standard that the state had the burden of disproving self-defense* beyond a reasonable doubt at the directed verdict stage. ROA 424, l. 10 – 425, l. 21. (emphasis added).

Defense case

During the defense case Dr. Lois Veronen was qualified as an expert in the area of battered woman syndrome and the study of victim's of trauma and violence. ROA 635, ll. 2 – 11. Dr. Veronen opined that petitioner was a battered woman and that she suffered from post-trauma stress disorder as a result of her relationship with the decedent. ROA 682, ll. 6 – 13.

Petitioner testified that her relationship with the decedent was a violent one. The decedent hit her for the first time in September of 2001. ROA 791, l. 7 – 798, l. 3. On another occasion, near the Christmas of 2001 the decedent threw a television set at her. The decedent also continuously accused petitioner of seeing, or considering other men. ROA 440, l. 1 – 441, l. 23. Petitioner was injured as a result of these continuous physical altercations. ROA 443, ll. 5 – 10; ROA 459, l. 14 – 460, l. 10; ROA 465, ll. 1 – 14; ROA 434, ll. 9 – 16.

On the night of the incident they were at a bar, Group Therapy. ROA 483, l. 7 – 484, l. 4. She got a phone call from another man, which angered the decedent. The decedent choked her until she “passed out,” once they arrived back at her house. Petitioner said when she awoke the decedent had a scary look in his eyes. ROA 495, l. 1 – 496, l. 17. The decedent then grabbed the VCR by the cord and began hitting petitioner in the face with it. ROA 498, l. 16 – 500, l. 5. She grabbed a knife because she was being beaten, and told the decedent to stay away. ROA 500, l. 17 – 502, l. 2.

She also related to the jury how *she was scared she would be killed* if the decedent was able to get the knife away from her. ROA 504, l. 11 – 506, l. 4. Petitioner *was defending herself*, and she testified that the decedent was stabbed accidentally as he attacked her. ROA 507, l. 13 – 544, l. 14.

Petitioner's eight-year-old daughter, Olivia Butler, testified that the decedent frequently beat petitioner. ROA 618, l. 3 – 619, l. 6. Dr. Catherine Ross, who worked at Sistercare, also opined

that petitioner was a battered woman and that petitioner suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder. ROA 682, ll. 6 – 13.

Finally, petitioner's neighbor Annette Haltiwanger testified that petitioner told her that defending herself against the decedent as he beat her, and that she was able to get a knife from the kitchen before the decedent was stabbed during the encounter. ROA 691, ll. 13 – 20.

Renewed directed verdict motion

At the conclusion of the evidence petitioner again moved for a directed verdict. Counsel again argued the state had failed to disprove each and every element of self-defense. The judge "reaffirmed" his earlier ruling stating the standard he was applying was the existence of "*any evidence*" of direct or circumstantial evidence standard. ROA 726, l. 7 – 727, l. 13.

The judge later charged the jury on self-defense and the battered woman's syndrome. ROA 792, l. 17 – 803, l. 5. The judge also ruled after petitioner was convicted of voluntary manslaughter that she was a battered woman entitled to parole eligibility after serving one-fourth of her sentence. Supp. ROA. 1, l. 14 – 813, l. 4.

Petitioner argued before the Court of Appeals that: "It was undisputed that appellant was attacked by her angry decedent boyfriend. Appellant was in her own home and she did not have a duty to retreat. Appellant was entitled to a directed verdict on self-defense as a matter of law given the evidence in this case. The judge *refused to apply the correct legal standard that the state had the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt* at the directed verdict stage, and he did not consider whether the state's evidence negated appellant's claim of self-defense. The judge only applied the traditional "*any evidence*" standard of voluntary manslaughter without regard to self-defense. Brief at pp. 5-12.

The Court of Appeals affirmed without specifically ruling on the correct legal standard at the directed verdict stage. The Court of Appeals glossed over whether the correct standard was the one the trial judge applied here or whether the one trial counsel argued was the correct standard was actually the correct one. The Court ruled the state presented sufficient evidence “[n]egating the second element of self-defense that the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger.” The Court of Appeals gave great weight to petitioner’s statement that the decedent was killed by accident rather than in self-defense. App. 2-3.

Petitioner submits below that was a misstatement of petitioner’s testimony since a person can be acting self-defense and the decedent be accidentally stabbed or shot to death. Further, it is evident from the opinion of the Court of Appeals that it improperly heavily weighed petitioner’s credibility and incorrectly found self-defense and accident were mutually exclusive.

Petitioner argued on rehearing that the Court of Appeals essentially ignored his argument of the correct legal standard to be applied at the directed verdict stage, and also erred by simply ruling the state disproved the second element of self-defense without applying the beyond a reasonable doubt standard. App. 4-7. Rehearing was denied.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by essentially ignoring petitioner's argument that it was error for the trial judge to deny petitioner's motion for a directed verdict as a matter of law on self-defense where the trial judge ruled he would not apply the standard that the state had to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt on directed verdict motions, since that was the proper standard, and the evidence was undisputed that petitioner was being attacked by her angry decedent boyfriend in her own home at the time he was stabbed, and petitioner was entitled to a directed verdict as a matter of law on self-defense under the proper standard under these circumstances.

In State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 262, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002) this Court held that the failure of the trial court to give the requested instruction that the state had the burden of disproving self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt was reversible error. See State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998). Defense counsel here argued at the directed verdict stage the state also had to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt where it was properly raised by the evidence.

Here, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict noting the abundance of evidence of self-defense, and he asked for a directed verdict on self-defense as a matter of law. Counsel further argued that the state had the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt, and that the defense had instead established self-defense as a matter of law.

The trial court disagreed that standard at the directed verdict stage required that the state "disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt." The trial judge stated that was not the proper standard at the directed verdict stage. See, also, State v. Addison, 343 S.C. 290, 293, 540 S.E.2d

449, 451 (2000). The judge later “reaffirmed” this ruling, and he stated the proper standard was the traditional “any direct evidence” standard of voluntary manslaughter to take the case to the jury.

Petitioner respectfully submits that the trial judge erred by refusing to apply the State v. Burkhart, State v. Wiggins, State v. Addison standard requiring the state to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt at the directed verdict stage.

If the trial court would have applied the correct standard it would have found there was an abundance of evidence that petitioner was viciously attacked in her own home and she feared – and she had to fear – for her life or of suffering great bodily harm. The state failed to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Significantly, defense counsel also argued that petitioner was entitled to a directed verdict as a matter of law under State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978). Here, it was undisputed petitioner was attacked in her home, that she had no duty to retreat, and that she was injured during the decedent’s attack. There was also no concrete evidence the decedent was living with petitioner as the solicitor argued. Further, two experts testified petitioner was a battered woman at the decedent’s hands during the defense case, and that she suffered from PTSD because of her relationship with him. If nothing else, *by the conclusion of the defense case* self-defense had been established as a matter of law, and the state had not disproved self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, the trial judge insisted the proper standard was the traditional “any evidence” standard, and the fact this was a self-defense case was not going to move him from applying that standard. See State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000); State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452 (1984).

In State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011) this Court held the defendant was entitled to a directed verdict. This Court stated that “the state is required to disprove the elements of

self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt,” and when it does not disprove them beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011).

Here, as seen, the trial court refused to apply the Burkhart, Wiggins, Addison standard when it denied petitioner’s motion for a direct verdict. It is also apparent that the trial court did not consider whether the state’s evidence negated petitioner’s claim of self-defense. The trial court clearly stated he was applying the traditional “any evidence” standard at the directed verdict stage, and at the close of evidence, and not considering whether the state had disproved self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt, and he denied the directed verdict motion based on an erroneous legal standard.

Petitioner should now be granted an order of acquittal because the state did not disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt as mandated by the correct legal standard. See State v. Dickey.

2.

The Court of Appeals erred, even if ruled the judge applied the right standard, by holding it was not error for the judge to deny petitioner's motion for a directed verdict as a matter of law on self-defense where the evidence was undisputed that petitioner was being attacked by her angry decedent boyfriend in her own home at the time he was stabbed, and petitioner was entitled to a direct verdict of self-defense as a matter of law.

Again, petitioner Beulah Butler was diagnosed by Dr. Lois Veronen and Dr. Catherine Ross of Sistercare as being a battered woman who also suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder. ROA 640–646; ROA 674–682. Annette Haltiwanger remembered that at about two a.m. on July 23, 2006 she heard some loud noises coming from petitioner's home. ROA 22, l. 12 – 23, l. 21.

Officer Sharpe recalled petitioner was on floor trying to help or comfort the decedent when the police arrived. ROA 43, ll. 16 – 23. Officer Reese learned the decedent got mad at petitioner because “a male called me on the phone” while they were out at a club. ROA 56, l. 9 – 57, l. 2. Her house was in total disarray with objects overturned, and that it was consistent with a major struggle having occurred there. ROA 69, l. 13 – 73, l. 11. Investigator Bramlett recalled petitioner telling him that the decedent had choked her until she passed out once they arrived back at her house. Petitioner also told him that when she “came to” the decedent began hitting her in the head with her VCR which was consistent with petitioner's testimony. ROA 79, l. 6 – 80, l. 9. She had marks on her upper body, and cuts to her legs that morning, and there were also photographs showing bruises that were taken three days later. ROA 85, l. 20 – 86, l. 6.

Again, petitioner testified that *she was scared she would be killed* if the decedent was able to get the knife away from her. ROA 504, l. 11 – 506, l. 4. She *was defending herself*, and she testified that the decedent was stabbed accidentally as he attacked her. ROA 507, l. 13 – 544, l. 14.

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