ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-194608

RECEIVED

AUG 23 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

BEULAH RUTH BUTLER,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Lexington Judicial Center
205 E. Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge's denial of Butler's directed verdict motion because substantial evidence was presented during trial, including Butler's own statements and trial testimony indicating that she was not acting in self-defense when the victim was fatally stabbed, tending to prove Butler's guilt for the indicted offenses and to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Butler contends the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge's ruling denying her directed verdict motion on the issue of self-defense. Butler maintains she was entitled to a directed verdict because the State allegedly failed to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. To the contrary, when viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State as required without consideration of the weight of the evidence, the evidence presented during trial established Butler's guilt for each element of the indicted offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. Furthermore, again viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State as required, the evidence presented during trial, which included Butler's own statements and testimony indicating that she did not stab Victim in self-defense, tended to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Specifically, the State disproved that Butler was acting self-defense through evidence and testimony that included: (1) direct evidence of Butler's statements after the stabbing claiming that she **did not** stab the victim; (2) Butler's testimony during trial indicating that she did not stab the victim and did not act in self-defense; (3) evidence of the victim's defensive wounds, which were inconsistent with Butler's accounts of the stabbing; (4) testimony regarding Butler's efforts to conceal evidence after the stabbing; and (5) evidence of Butler's physical condition after the stabbing, which was inconsistent with her account of the incident. Accordingly, self-defense was not established as a matter of law, and the trial judge properly denied Butler's directed verdict motion and

submitted the case to the jury to allow it to resolve any factual disputes raised by the evidence. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's ruling. Therefore, the ruling of the Court of Appeals and Butler's convictions should be affirmed.

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). The trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict motion, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). "[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law." State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

When a defendant raises a claim of self-defense, the State is required to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011); see State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 544, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492-493 (1998) ("[C]urrent law requires the State to disprove self-defense, once raised by the defendant,

beyond a reasonable doubt.”). The State’s burden of disproving self-defense is satisfied when the State disproves any one of the elements of self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010). In making a determination as to whether the State met its burden of disproving self-defense, an appellate court should apply the traditional standard of review applied when reviewing the denial of any other directed verdict motion and affirm if there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence viewed in a light most favorable to the State reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt could be fairly or logically deduced. See Long, 325 S.C. at 62, 480 S.E.2d at 63 (applying the traditional directed verdict standard of review when considering whether Long was entitled to the grant of a directed verdict based on his claim that self-defense was established as a matter of law); see, e.g., Saxton v. State, 804 S.W.2d 910, 914 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991) (“In resolving the sufficiency of the evidence issue, we look not to whether the State presented evidence which refuted appellant’s self-defense testimony, but rather we determine whether after viewing all the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact would have found the essential elements of murder beyond a reasonable doubt and also have found against appellant on the self-defense issue beyond a reasonable doubt.”).

Four elements must be present to establish the defense of self-defense in South Carolina. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 344, 520 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1999). Those required elements are: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must either have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or have actually been in imminent danger; (3) if the defense is based on the belief of imminent danger, the belief

must have been the same as one that would have been entertained by a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage in the same situation; if the defendant was in actual imminent danger, the circumstances must have been such that would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to prevent serious bodily injury or loss of life; and (4) there was no other probable means of avoiding the danger than to act as the defendant did in the situation. State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994) (citing State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1982)). “It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.” Bixby, 388 S.C. at 554, 698 S.E.2d at 586.

In the case sub judice, when viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State as required, the evidence presented during trial, if accepted by the jury, established Butler’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt for voluntary manslaughter and possession of a firearm or knife during the commission of a violent crime and disproved self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. For those reasons, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s denial of Butler’s directed verdict motion.

Initially, based on the evidence presented during trial, the jury could reasonably, fairly, and logically have found Butler guilty of the indicted offenses. Turning to the trial evidence, Victim’s injuries established Victim was forcefully stabbed in the chest, with the knife traveling seven to ten inches into his body, and the stab wound directly resulted in his death. In addition to the fatal wound, Victim had numerous other injuries to his body, including multiple knife wounds and defensive wounds to the palm of his hand, his shoulder, and his arm. The defensive stab wound to Victim’s palm established Victim was being attacked and attempted to block a knife attack prior to his death.

Additionally, the evidence from the crime scene established Victim was killed during a physical altercation based on the disarrayed condition of the apartment, which included overturned furniture, damaged property, and a gouge to the ceiling. Butler's neighbor confirmed an altercation occurred prior to Victim's death based on her testimony regarding the loud noises she heard coming from Butler's apartment, and Butler told an officer after her arrest that she and Victim began physically fighting after they arrived home from a bar. Notably, Victim's blood was located in various locations scattered throughout the apartment, including on walls in multiple rooms, and on both the clothing recovered from Butler's laundry hamper and the clothing Butler was wearing at the time of her arrest.

Furthermore, the evidence established Victim and Butler were engaged in a heated argument prior to the fatal stabbing. Victim's mother testified she spoke with Victim shortly before his death and heard Butler arguing with him in the background. Butler subsequently confirmed the accuracy of Victim's mother's testimony and acknowledged she argued with Victim and insulted his mother shortly before he was stabbed to death. Additionally, Butler's neighbor testified she heard what she believed to be a domestic altercation occurring inside of Butler's apartment.

Finally, the knife involved in the stabbing was recovered from Victim's kitchen sink. Notably, someone appeared to have attempted to wipe Victim's blood off of the knife blade prior to the police officer's arrival on the scene. Critically, Butler was the only other person present in the apartment at the time Victim was fatally stabbed with the knife. Coupled with the evidence showing that Victim's blood was recovered from a shirt placed into Butler's laundry hamper, the evidence establishing that Victim's blood was wiped off of the knife he was stabbed with constituted evidence of an effort to

conceal evidence of a crime. See State v. McDowell, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976) (“As a general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt.”).

Viewing the evidence presented during trial in a light most favorable to the State, the jury could rationally find Butler guilty of each element of the indicted offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. Based on the evidence presented, the jury could reasonably, fairly, and logically conclude Butler intentionally and fatally stabbed Victim with a knife during the physical altercation that followed their heated argument while acting in a sudden heat of passion. See State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 413, 706 S.E.2d 12, 14-15 (2011) (“Voluntary manslaughter is the intentional and unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. . . . In determining whether the act which caused death was impelled by heat of passion or by malice, all the surrounding circumstances and conditions are to be taken into consideration, including previous relations and conditions connected with the tragedy, as well as those existing at the time of the killing.”); Wiggins, 330 S.C. at 549, 500 S.E.2d at 495 (finding a voluntary manslaughter charge was warranted because the testimony established Wiggins and the victim were involved a heated argument and Wiggins testified he was afraid); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 (prohibiting a person from possessing a firearm or displaying a firearm or knife while committing or attempting to commit a violent crime). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Butler’s directed verdict motion on the voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon charges. See, e.g., State v. Gilliam, 296 S.C. 395, 396, 373 S.E.2d 596, 597 (1988) (“Both self-defense and the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter should be submitted to the jury if supported by the evidence. The rationale for this rule is that the jury may fail to find all the

elements of self-defense but could find sufficient legal provocation and heat of passion to conclude the defendant was guilty of voluntary manslaughter.” (citations omitted)).

Notwithstanding the fact that the evidence disproved self-defense by tending to prove Butler’s guilt for voluntary manslaughter, the evidence presented during trial also disproved that Butler was acting in self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt when viewed in a light most favorable to the State. Most critically, as the Court of Appeals noted, Butler’s statements to the law enforcement officer investigating the fatal stabbing and testimony during trial established that she was not acting in self-defense at the time Victim was fatally stabbed. (App’x p. 3). After law enforcement officers arrived at Butler’s apartment, Butler initially indicated she did not know how Victim was stabbed. She then alternately claimed Victim rolled onto the knife, jumped onto the knife, and fell onto the knife. Subsequently, during trial, Butler repeatedly and emphatically insisted she **did not** stab Victim. Instead, she claimed Victim was stabbed accidentally when he either fell on or ran into the knife. Critically, Butler specifically denied she was defending herself when Victim was stabbed and asserted the only defensive wound she inflicted upon Victim was a cut to his wrist. Thus, Butler’s statements and trial testimony established she did not affirmatively act in self-defense by stabbing Victim. See State v. Davis, 309 S.C. 56, 61-62, 419 S.E.2d 820, 824 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding the trial judge properly denied Davis’ directed verdict motion and instructing: “[B]ecause Davis and his companions denied he pointed or presented the rifled at the officer, the only question presented to the jury by the defense’s version was whether or not he was guilty of pointing and presenting a firearm, not whether he did so in defense of himself, others or property.”). Therefore, from the evidence presented, the jury could rationally, reasonably, and logically find Butler was not acting in self-defense because Butler was

allegedly not committing any intentional act, including one undertaken in fear of losing her life or sustaining serious bodily injury, at the time the fatal stab wound was administered. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 608, 685 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2009) (“[S]elf-defense involves an intentional act.”). Accordingly, if Butler was not committing an intentional act, she could not have been acting in self-defense. See, e.g., State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999) (finding an accident charge was warranted where Burriss claimed the gun unintentionally went off after he armed himself in self-defense).

Particularly in light of the fact Butler insisted she did not stab Victim in self-defense, which was wholly inconsistent with a claim of self-defense, the evidence presented during trial tended to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt and created a factual issue regarding self-defense that could only appropriately be resolved by the jury. See State v. McDaniel, 68 S.C. 304, 317, 47 S.E. 384, 389 (1904) (explaining that self-defense involves a justified intentional killing while accident involves an unintentional killing). Critically, to the extent Butler’s testimony even raised the issue of self-defense, the evidence resulting from the investigation into the killing and the inconsistencies in Butler’s testimony and statements raised credibility issues regarding Butler’s testimony that could only appropriately be resolved by the jury and, thus, justified the denial of Butler’s directed verdict motion. See State v. Jenkins, 222 S.C. 359, 360-361, 72 S.E.2d 829, 829 (1952) (“It is not the function of [the appellate] court to pass upon the weight of the evidence, but only to determine its sufficiency to support the verdict[.]”); see, e.g., United States v. Brown, 53 F.3d 312, 314 (11th Cir. 1995) (“[A] statement by a defendant, if disbelieved by the jury, may be considered as *substantive evidence* of the defendant's guilt.” (italics in original)); United States v. Kenny, 645 F.2d

1323, 1346 (9th Cir. 1981) (“When the defendant elects to testify, he runs the risk that if disbelieved, the trier of fact may conclude that the opposite of his testimony is the truth.”).

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